

National Environmental Science Programme

# Movement patterns of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) linked to habitat structure and prey availability

Morgan S. Pratchett, Ciemon F. Caballes, Vanessa Messmer, Cameron S. Fletcher and David A. Westcott





# Movement patterns of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) linked to habitat structure and prey availability

Morgan S. Pratchett<sup>1</sup>, Ciemon F. Caballes<sup>1</sup>, Vanessa Messmer<sup>1</sup>, Cameron S. Fletcher<sup>2</sup> and David A. Westcott<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University <sup>2</sup> Department of Geography, University of Queensland



**Australian Government** 



Supported by the Australian Government's National Environmental Science Program Project 3.1.1 Implementation of the crown-of-thorns starfish research strategy © James Cook University, 2020



#### **Creative Commons Attribution**

Movement patterns of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (Acanthaster cf. solaris) linked to habitat structure and prey availability is licensed by James Cook University for use under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Australia licence. For licence conditions see: <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>

National Library of Australia Cataloguing-in-Publication entry: 978-1-925514-54-4

#### This report should be cited as:

Pratchett, M.S., Caballes, C.F., Messmer, V., Fletcher, C.S., Westcott, D.A. (2020) *Movement patterns of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (Acanthaster cf. solaris) linked to habitat structure and prey availability.* Report to the National Environmental Science Program. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns (40pp.).

Published by the Reef and Rainforest Research Centre on behalf of the Australian Government's National Environmental Science Program (NESP) Tropical Water Quality (TWQ) Hub.

The Tropical Water Quality Hub is part of the Australian Government's National Environmental Science Program and is administered by the Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited (RRRC). The NESP TWQ Hub addresses water quality and coastal management in the World Heritage listed Great Barrier Reef, its catchments and other tropical waters, through the generation and transfer of world-class research and shared knowledge.

This publication is copyright. The Copyright Act 1968 permits fair dealing for study, research, information or educational purposes subject to inclusion of a sufficient acknowledgement of the source.

The views and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Australian Government.

While reasonable effort has been made to ensure that the contents of this publication are factually correct, the Commonwealth does not accept responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the contents, and shall not be liable for any loss or damage that may be occasioned directly or indirectly through the use of, or reliance on, the contents of this publication.

Cover photographs: Morgan Pratchett

This report is available for download from the NESP Tropical Water Quality Hub website: <u>http://www.nesptropical.edu.au</u>

# CONTENTS

Contents
List of Tablesi
List of Figuresii
Acronyms
Acknowledgementsv
Executive Summary 1
1.0 Introduction
1.1 Capacity for movement 4
1.2 Importance of scale
1.3 Study objectives
2.0 Methodology
2.1 Captive movement rates
2.2 Short-term tagging and movement10
2.3 Passive acoustic monitoring12
3.0 Results and Discussion16
3.1 Captive movement rates16
3.2 Short-term tagging and movement20
4.0 Recommendations and Conclusions
References

# LIST OF TABLES

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Experimental tests of movement capacity for Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish ( <i>Acanthaster</i> cf. <i>solaris</i> ) at Lizard Island Research Station, showing three different substrates used in captive movement trials: sand, pavers and coral
Figure 2:	rubble. Photographs: Morgan Pratchett
Figure 3:	Location of the 8 acoustic receivers at Lodestone Reef, central GBR, and VR2W acoustic receiver at Lodestone Reef in March 2019. Photograph: Vanessa Messmer
Figure 4:	Location and spacing of 8 acoustic receivers at Big Broadhurst Reef on the central GBR. Receivers were spaced at regular intervals, ~100m apart14
Figure 5:	<i>In situ</i> tagging of crown-of-thorns starfish ( <i>Acanthaster</i> cf. <i>solaris</i> ) with V7 transmitters, showing specific location of tags after procedure was completed. Photographs: Deborah Burn and Vanessa Messmer
Figure 6:	Relationships for a) mean velocity and b) maximum velocity with the total diameter of crown-of-thorns starfish ( $n = 42$ ). Movement rates were quantified for three different substrate-types: paver (black circles), rubble (grey circles) and sand (white circles). Lines indicate the line of best fit for each different substrate type (paver: black line, rubble; grey line, sand; dashed line).
Figure 7:	Relationships for a) mean velocity and b) maximum velocity with the total diameter of crown-of-thorns starfish ( $n = 42$ ). Movement rates were quantified for three different substrate-types: paver (black circles), rubble (grey circles) and sand (white circles). Lines indicate the line of best fit for each different substrate type (paver: black line, rubble; grey line, sand; dashed line)
Figure 8:	Frequency distribution of minimum displacement distances (n=448) recorded during successive surveys of 357 individual crown-of-thorns starfish at Rib Reef, central Great Barrier Reef
Figure 9:	Box-plots showing size-based differences in recorded movement (A – minimum displacement distances, and B- minimum rate of movement) for crown-of-thorns starfish at Rib Reef, central Great Barrier Reef
Figure 10:	Box-plots showing differences in recorded movement for crown-of-thorns starfish (minimum displacement distances) relative to local cover across 10 transects at Rib Reef, central Great Barrier Reef,
Figure 11:	Detectability of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish ( <i>Acanthaster</i> cf. <i>solaris</i> ) at Rib Reef, based on actual number of individuals recorded versus estimated population sizes for A) different size classes (as per Table 2), and B) different transects. Data is shown for only 10 (out of 12) transects, as population estimates for transects with very low numbers of starfish detected were considered erroneous. Standard error for detectability estimates was calculated based on variability in population estimates (Table 2)
Figure 12:	Detections of tagged Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish ( <i>Acanthaster</i> cf. <i>solaris</i> ) at Lodestone Reef, GBR between March 5 <sup>th</sup> and June 27 <sup>th</sup> 2019. Each circle represents detections for a given individual on a day and shading is proportional

	to the number of detections for that particular day. Data for individual 39 extends well beyond the range of days shown (see Figure 13)27
Figure 13:	Detections of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish ( <i>Acanthaster</i> cf. <i>solaris</i> ) tagged on March $5^{th}$ 2019 (39-50) and 12 additional individuals tagged on June 27 <sup>th</sup> 2019
	(51-62) at Lodestone Reef GBR Data downloaded from Receivers 4 and 5
	between June 27 <sup>th</sup> and October 27 <sup>th</sup> 2019. Each circle represents detections for
	a given individual on a day and shading is proportional to the number of
	detections for that particular day. This data continues from Figure 12, and as
	such, all starfish tagged on March 5 <sup>th</sup> are also shown28
Figure 14:	Detections of tagged Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (Acanthaster cf. solaris) at
	Big Broadhurst Reef, GBR between November 21 <sup>st</sup> 2019 and January 29 <sup>th</sup> 2020.
	Each circle represents detections for a given individual on a day and shading is
	proportional to the number of detections for that particular day29
Figure 15:	Total duration (in days) of detections for tagged Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish
	(Acanthaster cf. solaris) at Lodestone Reef and Big Broadhurst Reef. The lack
	of any bars indicates that these starfish (10 individuals) were never detected
	post tagging and release
Figure 16:	Total number of detections recorded at hourly intervals across all (n=50) Pacific
	crown-of-thorns starfish (Acanthaster cf. solaris) tagged (with V7 69KHZ
	transmitters) at Lodestone Reef and Big Broadhurst Reef in 201932

### ACRONYMS

- AIMS ..... Australian Institute of Marine Science
- CoTS..... Crown-of-thorns starfish
- CSIRO..... Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation
- GBR ..... Great Barrier Reef
- GBRMP...... Great Barrier Reef Marine Park
- JCU..... James Cook University
- LTMP ..... Long-term Monitoring Program (AIMS)
- NESP ...... National Environmental Science Program
- TWQ..... Tropical Water Quality

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by the Australian National Environmental Science Program's (NESP) Tropical Water Quality (TWQ) Hub, as well as Ian Potter 50<sup>th</sup> Anniversary grants administered by the Lizard Island Reef Research Foundation. The authors are grateful to staff at Lizard Island Research Station for logistic support, as well as numerous volunteers and graduate students that contributed to this research, especially Cassandra Thompson, Deborah Burn, Alexander Buck, and Jennifer Wilmes.

Data is publicly available (Licenced under CC BY: Attribution 3.0 AU) via the Tropical Data Hub (http://dx.doi.org/10.4225/28/5976dd643fff8)

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Patterns of movement and habitat use by adult crown-of-thorns starfishes (*Acanthaster* spp.) will have a major bearing on their distribution, reproductive capacity, and impacts on coral assemblages and reef ecosystems. The spatial and temporal scales over which crown-of-thorns starfish move will also have important implications for the scales at which they will be most effectively managed. Movement patterns of crown-of-thorns starfish have been studied previously, though mostly over small distances (metres) and limited timeframes (minutes to hours). This study reports on explicit studies that measured the movement rates and movement patterns of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) at a range of temporal and spatial scales. In the first instance, we measured the instantaneous movement rates of starfish (n = 218) across different substrates; sand, coral rubble and consolidated carbonate pavement. This study was conducted in a large (5m diameter) tank, using video recordings that were then analysed to determine the mean and maximum rates of movement over successive 15-second intervals.

To assess movement patterns of *A*. cf. *solaris* in the field, short-term tagging and movement studies were undertaken at Rib Reef, in the central GBR. All starfish (n = 357) recorded on semi-permanent transects were individually tagged using numbered pieces of flagging tape. The precise position of each starfish (where detected) was then recorded during successive surveys during day and night for up to 4 days. To further scale-up movement studies for crown-of-thorns starfish we tagged 50 crown-of-thorns starfish using V7 (69KHZ) acoustic transmitters, at Lodestone Reef or Big Broadhurst Reef. The position of these starfish relative to acoustic receivers deployed 50-200m along the edge of the reef was recorded (at 3-minute intervals) for up to 8 months. Passive acoustic monitoring was intended to provide greater insights into longer-term (weeks to months) and larger-scale (kilometres) patterns of movement for crown-of-thorns starfish, but provided much less resolution regarding fine-scale movements of individual starfish.

Instantaneous measures of movement capacity for *A*. cf. *solaris* (in aquaria) showed that these starfish are capable of moving at 20-35 cm per minute, and move fastest over sand. Despite their capacity for movement, field-based studies suggested that crown-of-thorns starfish actually move very little at scales of days to weeks, and even months. For starfish that were tagged with temporary visual markers, the minimum displacement distance recorded for the majority of starfish (88.0%) was <2m throughout the course of the study. Moreover, starfish that did move to feed (mostly at night) often returned to the same resting location between feeding bouts. Similarly, starfish tagged with acoustic transmitters for up to 6 months were only ever detected on adjacent receivers with large overlap in their ranges, suggesting that all starfish remained within 50-100m of where they were initially found and tagged for up to 6-months. The frequency and duration of passive detections varied greatly among individual starfish tagged with transmitters, with detections peaking in early hours of the morning.

While this study shows that it is possible to effectively tag crown-of-thorns starfish, both over short and longer time-frames, there were considerable logistical challenges to documenting occasional large-scale, and presumably quite rapid, displacement of individual starfish. It is clear that crown-of-thorns starfish generally move very little and remain within localised areas (even returning to the same sheltering location between successive feeding bouts) of moderate

to high coral cover. However, *Acanthaster* spp. are also capable of moving large distances when necessary, presumably when coral prey are locally depleted. It will be important to understand the nature and scale of both modes of movement to effectively manage population irruptions of crown-of-thorns starfish. Documenting the incidence and rates of movement during these infrequent events remains a priority for future research.

## **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

Crown-of-thorns starfishes (Acanthaster spp.) are one of the largest and most efficient coral predators, and occur naturally on coral reefs throughout the Indo-Pacific (Chesher 1969; Birkeland and Lucas 1990; Pratchett et al 2014). More importantly, Acanthaster spp. exhibit periodic population irruptions, whereby local densities of starfish can increase from normally low densities of <1 to 100 starfish per hectare (Chesher 1969; Pearson and Endean 1969; Zann et al. 1990; Nakamura et al. 2014), to extreme densities of >1,000 starfish per hectare (Chesher 1969; Kayal et al. 2012). The combined feeding activities of high densities of often very large crown-of-thorns starfish almost invariably results in extensive coral depletion (e.g., Chesher 1969. Kaval et al. 2012), contributing to sustained and widespread declines in coral cover (Mellin et al. 2019). New and renewed population irruptions of Acanthaster spp. have been reported in many locations throughout the last decade (Lane 2012; Baird et al. 2013; Miller et al. 2015; Roche et al. 2015; Saponari et al. 2018), often in areas that have also been subject to climate-induced mass coral bleaching, as well as other more direct anthropogenic disturbances (Mellin et al. 2019; Pisapia et al. 2019). The cumulative effects of these multiple disturbances not only suppress live coral cover, but directly affects the biological and physical habitat structure (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009, Wilson et al. 2019) with subsequent effects on biodiversity and ecosystem function (Pratchett et al. 2011; McWilliam et al. 2020). Despite increasing incidence, severity and diversity of disturbances (especially disturbance linked to ongoing human-induced environmental changes), population irruptions of Acanthaster spp. remain a major cause of coral loss in many locations throughout the Indo west-Pacific (Trapon et al. 2011; De'ath et al. 2012; Kayal et al. 2012; Mellin et al. 2019).

The impacts of crown-of-thorns starfish on coral assemblages and coral reef ecosystems are indelibly linked to their behaviour, and most particularly, patterns of movement and feeding (Keesing and Lucas 1992; De'ath and Moran 1998; Pratchett et al. 2009). While there has been extensive work to document and understand feeding preferences of Acanthaster spp. (e.g., De'ath et al. 2012), which has obvious ramifications for shifts in coral composition (e.g., Pratchett et al. 2020), there has been much less research on movement patterns of these organisms. This is however, a critical knowledge gap that has ramifications for understanding and managing population irruptions of crown-of-thorns starfish. At very high densities, crownof-thorns starfish can form feeding fronts that gradually progress across areas of live coral cover (Barnes 1966). The movement of crown-of-thorns starfish (both in terms of direction and velocity) will, therefore, influence the rate and extent of coral depletion (Chesher 1969; Clements and Hay 2017) and the resulting broader ecological impacts. The capacity of starfish to move within and among reef habitats is also fundamental in addressing long-standing controversies surrounding the initiation and spread of population outbreaks (Pearson and Endean 1969; Talbot and Talbot 1971). Moreover, understanding the spatial and temporal scales at which adult starfish move is critical to the design of effective and efficient culling programs (Fletcher and Westcott 2013), which are the most direct and certain method for containing, if not preventing, population irruptions of Acanthaster spp. (Pratchett and Cumming 2019).

### **1.1 Capacity for movement**

Crown-of-thorns starfish, like all echinoderms, move using their water-vascular system to control the extension of numerous and largely independent podia (hereafter referred to as tube feet). For asteroids, the oral side of the animal attaches to the substrate using many tube feet, which inflate, retract and extend using a hydrostatic canal system to initiate crawling (McCurley and Kier 1995). Rates of movement for echinoderms generally increase with body size, due to increases in the number and/ or size of tube feet with increases in body size (Mueller et al 2011). Most notably, small (juvenile starfish) are extremely constrained in their capacity to move quickly or over long-distances (Yamaguchi 1973; Moran 1986), especially compared to larger adult starfish. Adult crown-of-thorns starfish are reported to move at up to 30-50 cm per minute, over short distances (Moran 1986; Mueller et al. 2011). Mueller et al. (2011) suggested that unlike most starfish, there was no effect of body size on movement rates of adult crownof-thorns starfish. This study was based on starfish ranging in size from 8-36 cm diameter (n = 38) and there was no apparent change in mean or maximum rates of movement with increasing body size (Mueller et al. 2011). There are however, marked differences in rates of movement recorded for juvenile versus adult crown-of-thorns starfish (Moran 1986; Birkeland and Lucas 1990; Table 1). Importantly, Yamaguchi (1973) showed that 2-week old juvenile starfish moved at a fairly consistent rate of 0.01 cm per minute when placed in a well-lit petri dish and invariably sought shelter in shaded locations. If this reflects their maximum movement rate, we would expect very limited capacity for newly settled crown-of-thorns starfish to move between discrete habitat types during ontogenetic development of post-settlement crown-ofthorns starfish (Wilmes et al. 2020), though Johnson et al. (1991) suggested that Acanthaster may settle in deep-water habitats (>50m depth), and then move to shallow water reef environments after 7-10 months around the time that they start feeding predominantly on hard (order Scleractinia) corals.

Movement rates and patterns of crown-of-thorns starfish in the wild are partly influenced by the nature (including complexity) of natural substrates (Pearson and Endean 1969; Pratchett et al. 2017). *Acanthaster* spp. move fastest over sand, where average maximum velocity (33.3 cm min<sup>-1</sup>; Pearson and Endean 1969) is almost twice that recorded for other reef substrates (Moran 1986). However, crown-of-thorns starfish placed on sand rapidly move towards nearby physical habitat structures (Petie et al 2016; Sigl et al. 2016). As such, apparent differences in these movement rates may reflect differential motivations for movement, rather than the physiological capabilities of moving over different substrates. When moving within continuous reef habitats, crown-of-thorns starfish typically exhibit semi-diurnal cycles of activity, and spend <40% of time actually moving (De'ath and Moran 1998). Maximum time-averaged rates of movement for adults over extended periods are therefore only 2.50-5.75 cm min<sup>-1</sup> (Moran 1986), showing that the realised rate of movement is strongly scale dependent, but also varies with size of the starfish (Pratchett et al. 2017).

Current knowledge regarding the capacity and patterns of movement for crown-of-thorns starfish comes mainly from short-term experimental studies of juveniles, especially newly settled juveniles (e.g., Yamaguchi 1973) and field-based observations of adult starfish (e.g., Ormond 1970; Aziz and Sukarno 1977). Reconciling the data arising from different studies is very difficult, largely because movement rates that are recorded are highly conditional upon the scale and methods used. Most critically, short-term observations or active tracking studies tend to report movement rates of only those individuals that are actively moving, essentially

recording the capacity for movement (e.g., Pratchett et al. 2017). It is unlikely however, that these instantaneous rates of movement could or would be sustained over weeks, let alone entire days. Therefore, rates of movement inferred based on changes in the relative location of starfish in the wild, are invariably much lower than movement rates reported from active tracking of individuals (Table 1).

Field-based measurements of movement rates are also based largely on minimum displacement distances recorded over time, which may greatly under-estimate the actual movement of individuals (Keesing and Lucas 1992). Typically, field-based studies record the precise position of individually recognisable or tagged starfish at intervals of hours, days or weeks (e.g., Ormond 1970; Aziz and Sukarno 1977). When individuals are re-located in a new location, the displacement distances and rates of movement are calculated based on the straight-line distance to the original location, though it very likely starfish moved much further to achieve the apparent displacement (Keesing and Lucas 1992). The recorded displacement distances and rates of movement capacity and patterns of movement. Keesing and Lucas (1992) directly compared minimum displacement distances recorded at daily and 5-day intervals with total distances moved by intensively tracking individual starfish. The total daily distance travelled was at least 60% further than minimum displacement distances, whereas the total distance travelled in 5-days was >160% of the recorded minimum displacement distances (Keesing and Lucas 1992).

Field-based studies of movement are also confounded by changes in behavioural modes, whereby time spent feeding or sheltering, will constrain the capacity for movement (Pratchett et al. 2017), though this provides a much more realistic representation of the movement patterns.

#### **1.2 Movement and management**

Quantifying movement rates for crown-of-thorns starfish is important, not only for understanding the initiation and spread of population irruptions, but also for optimising spatial and temporal aspects of population control (or culling) activities (Bos et al. 2013). Detailed understanding of movement patterns (at a range of different scales) will therefore, have important management implications (Vanhatalo et al. 2017; Pratchett et al. 2017).

On Australia's Great Barrier Reef (GBR), reef-wide population irruptions of the Pacific crownof-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) originate on mid-shelf reefs in the vicinity of 14-15°S (Sweatman et al. 1998; Pratchett 2005; Wooldridge and Brodie 2015; Vanhatalo et al. 2017; but see Miller et al. 2015). In 1994, for example, population irruptions of *A*. cf. *solaris* were first recorded at Lizard Island (14°40'S, 145°27'E) and several other reefs within the immediate area, including Linnet, North Direction, and Rocky Islet (Sweatman et al. 1998). After becoming well-established on initial reefs, population irruptions spread to other nearby reefs, predominantly southwards (Kenchington 1977; Reichelt et al. 1990; Vanhatalo et al. 2017) at a rate of 100-200km every 3 years. The spread of population irruptions on the GBR has been attributed to mass migration of adult starfish, which are purported to move between reefs following localised depletion of coral prey (e.g., Talbot and Talbot 1971), though the timing and rate of spread is more readily attributable to step-wise spread through larval dispersal and establishment of high-densities of adult starfish at downstream reefs, which then reproduce and further contribute to the spread of population irruptions (Kenchington 1977; Bradbury et al. 1990; Hock et al. 2014). Nonetheless, adult crown-of-thorns starfish may well be capable of moving between nearby reefs, especially where there is contiguous reef habitat connecting reefs (Pratchett et al. 2017). If so, this will have important ramifications for control strategies and management effectiveness.

Temporal Scale	Life stage	Source (Location)	Details of measurements taken	Rate Mean (Range)	
Minutes	Adults	Mueller et al. 2011 (Philippines)	Active tracking in the field, but on plastic	35.3 cm/min (0-50.9)	
	Adults	Glynn 1977 (Panama)	Direct observation of a single starfish escaping predator	100 cm/min	
	Juveniles (2 week old)	Yamaguchi 1973	Active tracking across petri dish	0.1 cm/min	
Hours	Juveniles	Pearson and Endean 1969 (GBR)	Direct observations in the field	(1.4-4.0 m/hr)	
AdultsBarham et al. 1973 (Gulf of California)Followed tagged in the field California)AdultsPearson and Endean 1969Direct observation field		Followed tagged individuals in the field	0.6 m/hr, but lower (0.25m/hr) in areas with high coral cover		
		Direct observations in the field	(5-10 m/hr)		
Days	Adults	Ormond 1970 (Red Sea)	Field-based measures of minimum-displacement distances	23 m/day (0- 82)	
	Adults	Aziz and Sukarno 1977 (Indonesia)	Field-based measures of minimum-displacement distances	(0.3-8.0 m/day)	
	Adults	Caballes unpub. data 2006 (Guam	Field-based measures of displacement distance based on feeding scars	1.8m/day (0.9- 2.3)	
	Adults	Branham et al. 1971 (Hawaii)	Field-based measures of minimum-displacement distances	0-18 m/day	
	Adults	Keesing and Lucas 1992 (GBR)	Repeat observations to record position of tagged individuals	2.8 m/day (0- 9.6)	
Weeks	Adults	Chesher 1969 (Guam)	Short-term tagging and movement in the field	250 m/wk	
Months	Adults	Chesher 1969 (Guam)	Movement of feeding fronts and corresponding coral loss	1 km/month	
	Adults	Ormond and Cambell 1974	Movement of aggregated population	100 m/month	

Table 1: Reported movement rates of crown-of-thorns starfish (Acanthaster spp.) at different life-stages

Contemporary management of population irruptions of A. cf. solaris on the GBR is largely focused on culling or removing adult starfish, both to minimise coral loss caused by high densities of A. cf. solaris starfish at priority reefs, but also to reduce the reef-wide proliferation of population irruptions by reducing densities of adult starfish below reproductive thresholds (Fletcher et al. 2020). To be effective at local (within reef) scales, the crown-of-thorns starfish control program must take account of the effective scale and rates of adult movement, which will influence how fast starfish recolonise areas that have been subject to concerted culling effort. Specifically, better understanding the spatial scale of starfish movement will allow the number of within-reef management units targeted for control around a localised outbreak to be refined, and better understanding the temporal scale of starfish movement will help determine the optimal frequency with which management units should be culled. Improving estimates of crown-of-thorns starfish movement will significantly increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the overall Control Program. The capacity for crown-of-thorns starfish to undertake sustained and directional movement will also be critical in establishing the spatial extent of management effort necessary to disrupt spawning aggregation and thereby suppress reproductive output as a way of preventing further population irruptions (Rogers et al. 2017). Most critically, the capacity of starfish to move within and among reefs (including the use of deep-water habitats for settlement or refugia from adverse environmental conditions) will be important for establishing relevant management units across multiple reefs.

### **1.3 Study Objectives**

The objectives of this study were three-fold, presented in order of increasing scale;

i) To assess the short-term (instantaneous) movement rates of crown-of-thorns starfish in captivity, essentially testing how their capacity for movement varies with body size and substrate (e.g., moving across sand versus coral rubble). While several previous studies have quantified movement rates of *Acanthaster* spp (Table 1; Moran 1986), most estimates are based on hourly or daily displacement under field conditions, with no account of the specific substrate type (e.g., Keesing and Lucas 1992). We expected that absolute rates of movement would increase with increasing size of the starfish, and that larger starfish would also be more capable of moving across complex substrates. Given that increased substrate complexity effectively increases the distance over which starfish must travel to achieve the same horizontal displacement (Flukes et al. 2012) and increases the probability and proportion of tube feet not in contact with the substrate at any point in time, we also expect that movement will be much more constrained over rubble, compared to relatively flat carbonate pavement or sand. This study was published in 2017 (Pratchett et al. 2017).

ii) To quantify diurnal and daily movement patterns of crown-of-thorns starfish, by individually tagging starfish and directly recording their position and behaviour during surveys conducted day and night for 1-4 days. This approach is very similar to that used by Keesing and Lucas (1992), who showed that starfish moved relatively little (1m/day) especially in habitats with high (>30%) live coral cover. It is possible however, that Keesing and Lucas (1992) greatly underestimated actual movement patterns of *A. cf, solaris,* whereby individuals may move (mostly at night) to feed and then return to essentially the same position to shelter between feeding bouts. There is conflicting evidence regarding whether *Acanthaster* spp. are predominantly nocturnal (Ormond and Campbell 1974;

De'ath and Moran 1998), which may be attributable to changing patterns of activity with ontogeny and as food becomes scarce (Moran 1986). However, there may also be geographical variation in the behaviour of crown-of-thorns starfish, linked to species-specific responses to biological or environmental conditions (Burn et al. 2020). As such, we explicitly assessed diurnal changes in the specific location and behaviour of starfish, testing for diurnal cycles of feeding versus sheltering. A portion of this research (focussing on diurnal changes in feeding behaviour and exposure) was published in Burn et al. (2020).

iii) To study larger-scale (kilometres) and longer-term (months) movement of crown-ofthorns starfish, we used passive acoustic monitoring (*sensu* Simpfendorfer et al. 2011; Welsh et al. 2012), where focal individuals are tagged with coded transmitters and their unique signal is automatically monitored using acoustic receivers. Passive acoustic monitoring is being used to track movements of a wide-range of different coral reef organisms (Heupel et al. 2004; Udyawer et al. 2016; Scott et al. 2019; Schlaff et al. 2020), providing the opportunity to track movement of individuals within complex reef environments over months to years. The specific goal of this study was to track changes in the behavioural modes of crown-of-thorns starfish following localised depletion of coral prey, expecting to show extended periods of limited movement, as starfish concentrate on feeding within distinct habitat patches, interspersed with rapid large-scale movements to new habitat patches. Given that passive acoustic monitoring has never before been conducted for *Acanthaster* spp. this study also provides an opportunity to explore the utility of this technology for assessing even larger scale movement patterns, such as inter-reef movements.

### 2.0 METHODOLOGY

#### 2.1 Captive movement rates

To quantify movement rates of crown-of-thorns starfish, a total of 112 Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) were collected at or near Lizard Island (14°40'S, 145°27'E) on the northern Great Barrier Reef (GBR), Australia, in November 2015. Starfish were carefully transported to the experimental aquarium facility at Lizard Island Research Station and held in captivity in 1000 L plastic aquaria with continuous and rapid exchange of fresh seawater.

To quantify mean and maximum rates of movement, starfish were placed individually into a large (5m diameter) tank. Movement trials were initiated by placing a single starfish in the centre of the experimental aquarium. The movement of the starfish to the outer perimeter of the aquarium was then recorded using a GoPro camera mounted directly above the aquarium. To encourage starfish to move to the edge of the tank a 1m wide sheet of black plastic was attached to one section of the aquarium, which had otherwise white walls. The black plastic was intended to simulate the shade cast by a reef structure, representing a potential refuge detectable by photoreceptors of *Acanthaster* spp. (Beer et al 2016, Petie et al 2016). Movement trials were conducted during daylight hours and only when the sun was sufficiently elevated to directly light the bottom of the aquarium, from approximately 0830 to 1700.

Three different substrate types were tested; i) a 5 cm thick layer of sand, which was collected from intertidal areas adjacent to reef environments, ii) continuous layer of paving tiles which were coated in calcareous algae following extended deployment (up to 6 months) in reef environments before being air dried (reflective of consolidated carbonate pavement), and iii) coral rubble, comprising an assortment of coral fragments left over from previous experiments. Starfish were randomly selected from the pool of captive individuals (n = 112), ensuring that each individual was tested only once on each substrate type. Some starfish were tested on multiple substrate types, but we did not explicitly account for individual identity and so cannot compare movement rates on different substrates for each individual.

Videos were analysed using Adobe After Effects to calculate mean and maximum rates of movement. Start time was defined as the time at which starfish began directional movement and end time was determined when the individual either reached the edge of the substrate, halted movement and was removed, or disappeared into the substrate. To quantify movement rates, coordinates of the central point for each individual were recorded at 15-second intervals, and the distance between these two points was calculated and converted from pixels to cm, using measuring tapes laid across the bottom of the tank for calibration. Variation in locomotor capacity among individual starfish was analysed based on the mean rate of movement (cm/ second) averaged across all possible 15 second intervals for each starfish, and maximum rate of movement, which was the maximum distance moved (cm/ 15 sec) across all 15 sec intervals for each starfish.



Figure 1: Experimental tests of movement capacity for Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) at Lizard Island Research Station, showing three different substrates used in captive movement trials: sand, pavers and coral rubble. Photographs: Morgan Pratchett.

### 2.2 Short-term tagging and movement

Short-term tagging and movement studies were undertaken at Rib Reef (18°29'S 146°52'E), in the central GBR. This study was conducted in 2016 to 2017, when active outbreaks of *A. cf. solaris* were concentrated on mid-shelf reefs in the area between Cairns and Townsville (Pratchett et al. 2019). High densities of *A. cf. solaris* caused extensive coral loss at Rib Reef during 2015 and 2016, though areas of high coral cover remained, mostly inside the lagoon. To document the initial position of crown-of-thorns starfish, 50m tapes were deployed parallel to the reef contour in each of two different habitats; on the reef crest (1-3m depth) which was generally characterised by high cover of tabulate *Acropora*, and on the reef slope (6-9m depth) where there was high diversity of corals, but often low coral cover, except in areas where there were mono-specific stands of sprawling staghorn *Acropora*. Between 2-5 transects were established during each of three distinct reef visits, with sampling conducted in different sites on each sampling occasion to account for prevailing conditions and changes in the distribution and abundance of starfish aggregations.



Figure 2: Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) at Rib Reef, showing temporary tags (2), whereby numbered pieces of coloured flagging tape were secured over accessible spines and were often discernible without disturbing the animal. Photograph: Morgan Pratchett.

All crown-of-thorns starfish that were located within the immediate vicinity of the transect tapes (up to 5m either side of the transect line) were tagged using uniquely numbered pieces of flagging tape, following Sigl and Laforsch (2016), and their position was recorded (to the nearest 10cm) relative to the distance along as well as the perpendicular distance away from the transect line. Temporary tags (2cm lengths of coloured flagging tape) were secured by spearing them over one or more aboral spines (wherever accessible) with aid of long-handle forceps. The size (maximum diameter) was recorded (or estimated) taking care not to disturb the starfish or cause them to move. During initial set-up (n = 75 starfish across 2 sites), we placed two independent pieces of flagging tape on every starfish (Figure 2), and then verified the subsequent identity of starfish by referring to both tags. This effectively allowed for measures of tag retention among starfish that were recorded on multiple occasions (n = 68starfish), which was very high (94.1%; 128 out of 136 tags) over the initial study period (48-72 hours). While the dual tagging did (in some cases) make it easier to determine the identity of starfish (e.g., for starfish concealed well within the reef matrix, tags placed on opposite arms increased the likelihood that at least one tag would be visible without disturbing the starfish), subsequent starfish were mostly tagged with only a single temporary tag.

To assess fine-scale movement patterns of A. cf. solaris at Rib Reef within and among diel intervals, transect tapes were left in position for up to 4 days, and re-surveyed on multiple occasions. Each of the transects was surveyed at least once during diurnal (0700-1700 hrs) and nocturnal periods (1900-0500 hrs). Transects were established during daylight hours and at least one survey was conducted after dark. During each survey we recorded the position (as described above) of every tagged starfish. We also tagged and recorded all new starfish detected during each successive survey. While not an initial or intentional objective of this study, this accounting of all newly detected starfish (as distinct from re-captures) allowed for mark-recapture estimates of the local population size and detection probabilities of starfish in different size classes, following MacNeil et al. (2016). Detectability was assessed by comparing the total number of adult A. cf. solaris recorded during the first diurnal and first nocturnal survey on each transect to the estimated overall population size based on ratios of tagged starfish versus un-tagged starfish recorded across all successive surveys on each transect. Estimated overall population size was calculated using a loglinear model in Rcapture, (Baillargeon and Rivest 2007) assuming a closed population, given the short period that elapsed (<24 hours) between surveys.

Aside from recording the position of starfish, the extent to which individuals were exposed (visible from directly above) was recorded to the nearest 10%. We also recorded whether starfish were moving versus stationary, and/ or feeding. Feeding was determined based on whether stomachs were everted (even partially) versus completely retracted, by carefully lifting one or more arms until it was possible to observe the everted stomach or mouth. Local coral cover and composition was also recorded using the point intercept method (at 50cm intervals) along each of the transects. All live corals were identified to genus, while points that did not intersect live corals were categorised as either carbonate pavement, loose rubble or sand.

#### 2.3 Passive acoustic monitoring

To study larger-scale (hundreds of metres) and longer-term (months) movement of crown-ofthorns starfish, we tagged individual starfish (n = 50) using V7 69KHZ acoustic transmitters and remotely monitored their position relative to 8 acoustic receivers (VR2W – 69 KHZ receivers by Vemco) deployed along continuous reef tracts. Two separate and successive monitoring studies were undertaken: i) Lodestone Reef (18°41'S, 147°06'E) where receivers were installed on March 5<sup>th</sup> 2019 to either side of a small aggregation of starfish that was located along the north-western corner of the reef (Figure 3), and ii) Big Broadhurst Reef (18°56'S, 147°43'E), where receivers were installed on November 21<sup>st</sup> 2019 in a continuous line on the southwestern edge of the reef (Figure 4). At Lodestone Reef, the two central receivers (number 4 and 5) were spaced 50 m apart, increasing to 100 m either side for the next receiver (3 and 6) and 200 m for the two outermost receivers (1 and 2; 7 and 8). At Big Broadhurst Reef, all receivers were set 100m apart at a depth between 3.5m and 7m. These sites were selected following extensive surveys (manta tow searches) at mid-shelf reefs in the central section of the GBR, including Hopkinsons Reef, Grub Reef, and Centipede Reef, to identify sites with reasonable densities of crown-of-thorns starfish but also moderate coral cover, and in areas with limited habitat structure that would interfere with signals between tagged starfish and receivers.

Acoustic receivers were painted in marine anti-foul paint, arranged in a relatively straight line and secured using either a stake hammered into sand or rubble, or chained to large section of carbonate reef matrix (Figure 3). At Lodestone Reef, receivers were arranged in a line as close as possible to the continuous reef structure, but there were lots of tall patch reefs that could potentially reduce detections of starfish, except when they were on the top or seaward side of the patch reefs. At Big Broadhurst Reef receivers were deployed in relatively deep water, away from the reef edge and crest (to avoid damage during low tides and rough weather, as well as ensuring they did not pose a hazard for local boat traffic) but were secured well above the surrounding substrate to maximise detection rates (Figure 3). It was expected (given the complexity of the reef habitat) that tagged starfish would only be detected if out in the open, such as moving between reef structures and patch reefs.



Figure 3: Location of the 8 acoustic receivers at Lodestone Reef, central GBR, and VR2W acoustic receiver at Lodestone Reef in March 2019. Photograph: Vanessa Messmer.

Vemco V7 (69KHZ) transmitters were the smallest transmitters available that could be attached externally to crown-of-thorns starfish. Transmitters were painted with marine anti-foul paint to avoid settling organisms that might affect the transmission, and were programmed to emit a signal every 3 minutes (180 seconds) for up to 12 months. Transmitters were attached

to crown-of-thorns starfish using 17 LB (0.38 mm diameter) fishing line that was fed through the calcified ring within the central disc of the starfish, which is located just outside of the ring of madreporites. Holes were pre-drilled in the central disk using a 19G x 3.5" Terumo spinal needle, which was rotated by hand, after first using it to locate the calcified ring. The fishing line was then fed through the needle (whilst still in place) and through the body of the starfish. For the first tagging study (n = 12 starfish; March 2019) the fishing line was tied to the evelet of the transmitter before securing around the closest armpit. However, all subsequent starfish were tagged by drilling two holes (2 to 3 cm apart) through the calcified ring to ensure the transmitter remained on the aboral surface of the starfish. The fishing line was passed down and then back up through adjacent holes and then tied to V7 transmitter on the aboral surface before connected the ends of the fishing line using A1 crimp sleeves (1.4 mm diameter). The fishing line was secured with only very slight tension to minimise the likelihood of getting snagged, while ensuring that fishing line did not tear the dermal tissues of the starfish (Figure 5). All starfish were tagged immediately after collection, on nearby areas of open sand. Following tagging, each starfish was released to the precise (temporarily marked) location where it was originally located.



Figure 4: Location and spacing of 8 acoustic receivers at Big Broadhurst Reef on the central GBR. Receivers were spaced at regular intervals, ~100m apart

To assess coral cover around each receiver, 3 replicate 20 m point intercept transects were run either side of the receiver and approximately parallel to the reef edge. Surveys were conducted at Lodestone Reef on 28-29 June 2019 at, and Big Broadhurst Reef on 21-22 November 2019. Live coral or the type of substrate underlying the transect tape was recorded every 0.5m, as described above.



Figure 5: In situ tagging of crown-of-thorns starfish (Acanthaster cf. solaris) with V7 transmitters, showing specific location of tags after procedure was completed. Photographs: Deborah Burn and Vanessa Messmer.

# **3.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### 3.1 Captive movement rates

Crown-of-thorns starfish placed in the centre of an open and well-lit tank almost invariably (91.7%, n=218) and immediately moved toward the outer perimeter of the tank, which is consistent with an inherent avoidance of exposed habitats (Moran 1986; Petie et al. 2016). Exceptions to this pattern were smaller starfish that were able to seek refuge beneath large pieces of coral rubble, and thereafter remained stationary and concealed. For starfish that did progress to the outer edge, most (75.0%) headed towards the black plastic sheet, highlighting the importance of vision in orientation by crown-of-thorns starfish and their inherent preference for habitat structure (Beer et al. 2016; Petie et al. 2016). However, we did notice that most starfish tended to have a distinct anterior-posterior axis, as reported by Rosenberg (1972), whereby the initial direction of movement was determined by the orientation of the dominant arm(s), which were held upwards, presumably to maximise the visual field in the direction of movement (sensu Beer et al. 2016). This tendency for non-random behavioural orientation was most apparent for starfish that were initially orientated and started moving perpendicular to the direction of the black plastic sheet and then circled around to move in the direction of the sheet. Accordingly, some starfish may not have detected the black plastic sheet, simply because they were initially orientated with their dominate arm(s) in the opposite direction.

The rates of movement (averaged across all 15 second observations for each individual) recorded for starfish varied significantly with body size (GLM:  $F_{1,214} = 6178$ , p < 0.05; Figure 6). The average rate of movement for individuals <150 mm total diameter was 23.99 cm per minute (±1.02 SE) compared to 33.41 cm per minute (±1.49SE) for individuals >350mm total diameter. This is very similar to reported rates of movement for adult crown-of-thorns starfish from studies (e.g., Mueller et al. 2011) conducted at equivalent temporal scales (Table 1). As for mean velocity, maximum velocity (the maximum speed recorded in a 15 second period) generally increased with increasing body size (GLM:  $F_{1,214} = 9858$ , p < 0.05; Figure 6a). However, the maximum recorded rate of movement (107.24 cm per minute) was recorded for a starfish that was just 205mm in diameter. This seemingly anomalous rate of movement was only sustained for a very short period (15 seconds), but may suggest that sustained rates of movement were well below what these starfish are actually capable of (e.g., if being pursued by a predator). Overall, the maximum velocity recorded for each individual movement assay was 53.07% (cv = 0.74) above the mean velocity recorded as starfish moved from the centre to the edge of the tank. This suggests that starfish were moving at a moderate and sustained rate.

While mean and maximum rates of movement for crown-of-thorns starfish increased with increasing body size, it is unclear what inherent morphological features facilitate increased movement capacity at larger size. For crown-of-thorns starfish considered in this study, both the length (GLM:  $F_{1,41} = 22743$ , p < 0.05) and number of tube feet (GLM:  $F_{1,41} = 10148$ , p < 0.05) were positively related to body size (Pratchett et al. 2017). However, if we account for the size of starfish (recording movement rates based on body length per minute) the rate of movement effectively declines with increasing body size (see also Montgomery and Palmer 2012). The average rate of movement for individuals <150 mm total diameter (n = 58) was

0.205 body lengths per minute ( $\pm$ 0.008 SE) compared to 0.084 body lengths per minute ( $\pm$ 0.004 SE) for individuals >350mm total diameter (n = 82).



**Figure 6:** Relationships for a) mean velocity and b) maximum velocity with the total diameter of crown-of-thorns starfish (n = 42). Movement rates were quantified for three different substrate-types: paver (black circles), rubble (grey circles) and sand (white circles). Lines indicate the line of best fit for each different substrate type (paver: black line, rubble: grey line, sand: dashed line).

Despite marked size-based differences in rates of movement recorded, substrate type also had a significant effect on the short-term rates of movement (GLM:  $F_{1,212} = 9848$ , p < 0.05; Figure 6). This study showed that *A cf. solaris* moved faster over sand (36.53 ± 1.31 cm min<sup>-1</sup>) than on either rubble or consolidated pavement (Tukey's test: p < 0.05). Starfish had the slowest average rate of movement when moving across rubble (17.25 ± 0.63 cm min<sup>-1</sup>), which was significantly slower for sand or pavers (Tukey's test: p < 0.05). Substrate type also had a significant influence on maximum velocity (GLM: F1,212 = 6089, p < 0.05; Figure 6b). A significant interaction was detected between starfish mean diameter and substrate type (GLM: F1,209 = 341, p < 0.05; Figure 6b). The highest overall maximum velocity was recorded on sand. However, maximum velocity on sand was only significantly higher than rubble (Tukey's test: p < 0.05). The difference in maximum velocity between sand and paver increased with increasing size of starfish, but was not significant (Tukey's test: p > 0.05).

It is to be expected that substrate type would influence the potential rates of movement by benthic invertebrates (e.g., Thompson and Thompson 1982), but this study presents the first explicit test of effects of substrate-type on movement rates for crown-of-thorns starfish. We found that crown-of-thorns starfish moved slowest across rubble (Figure 6), which was the most structurally complex of the three substrate types tested. Three factors likely contribute to this. Firstly, individuals must navigate a greater surface area to achieve the same degree of horizontal displacement (Flukes et al. 2012). Second, tube feet adhesion strength is significantly higher when starfish are moving over rough surfaces (Santos et al. 2005); therefore, starfish may be slowed down on rough surfaces due to the need to break the stronger adhesive bond between their tube feet and the substrate, which could also explain why the effect of substrate was stronger in larger starfish (due to the greater number of tube feet and hence strength of attachment). Finally, the capacity of starfish to bend sufficiently to keep all tube feet in contact with the substrate will decrease with the substrate's topographical complexity, and this effect should be greater for larger starfish. Interestingly and unexpectedly, crown-of-thorns starfish exhibited consistently and significantly higher velocities on sand compared with flat, unstructured, consolidated pavement (Figure 6). Functionally, we would expect movement rates to be somewhat constrained by the instability of sand and reduced adhesion of tube feet, limiting the capacity for starfish to pull themselves across the substratum. The greater velocities on sand versus pavement, might therefore, be due to motivation rather than physical capabilities (see also Thompson and Thompson 1982) or to the ease of breaking adhesion to sand surfaces.

Birkeland and Lucas (1990) suggested that the maximum rate of movement for crown-ofthorns starfish is approximately 1 body length (diameter) per minute, regardless of size, which would effectively account for size-based changes in reported movement. However, the movement rate reported by Glynn (1977), at 1m per minute for a starfish that was 250mm total diameter, would equate to 4 body lengths per minute. Average and maximum rates of movement recorded in this study were much less than 1 body length per minute, and generally <0.5 body lengths per minute, and decreased with increasing body size (Figure 76). This might suggest that starfish (even at the maximum recorded rates of movement) were not moving at anything close to the maximum possible rates of movement. If so, this would suggest that very high rates of movement are energetically costly and reserved for extreme situations, such as escaping predators (Glynn 1977). Interestingly, the size-corrected average rates of movement were much more similar across the range of sizes considered when travelling over rubble, compared to sand or pavers (Figure 7). This suggests that constraints imposed on rates of movement over highly complex substrates are largely independent of body size.





### 3.2 Short-term tagging and movement

#### 3.2.1 Movement

A total of 357 individual crown-of-thorns starfish, ranging in size form 100mm diameter to 560mm dimeter were recorded and tagged (with temporary tags) on 12 transects across five sites at Rib Reef. Repeat surveys of all *A*. cf. *solaris* recorded along these transects yielded 448 discrete movement events, recorded as the minimum distance between where each starfish was detected and the location where it was last recorded. Minimum displacement distances ranged from 0 to 22.8m, while the period between successive detections ranged from 2 to 82 hours. The distribution of minimum displacement distances was highly skewed towards very limited or no movement (Figure 8); for 194 (out 448) observations the starfish did not noticeably move between successive surveys (minimum displacement distance = 0), while minimum displacement distance was <2m for 368 out of 448 (82.1%) starfish.



Figure 8: Frequency distribution of minimum displacement distances (n=448) recorded during successive surveys of 357 individual crown-of-thorns starfish at Rib Reef, central Great Barrier Reef.

Across all discrete movement events, the average minimum displacement distance recorded was 0.96m (95%CI: 0.79-1.14m), and the corresponding movement rate (accounting for time in hours between successive detections) averaged 0.08m per hour (95%CI: 0.07-0.10m per hour) or 1.9m per day. The average minimum displacement distance and average rate of movement was consistently low across all size-classes of crown-of-thorns starfish (Figure 9), though there were noticeable increases in both the measures of movement among large (>500mm diameter) individuals (n=3). Keesing and Lucas (1992) found that movement rates for larger crown-of-thorns starfish ( $\geq$ 400mm diameter) were at least twice that of smaller starfish (<400mm diameter), but we did not detect such a marked difference with size.



**Figure 9:** Box-plots showing size-based differences in recorded movement (A – minimum displacement distances, and B- minimum rate of movement) for crown-of-thorns starfish at Rib Reef, central Great Barrier Reef.

These data show that *A.* cf. *solaris* move very little on diel timescales. Even for starfish that changed their behavioural mode (e.g., between sheltering versus feeding), they moved only short distances (<2m) from sheltering positions to feeding locations. These findings are consistent with findings from other comparable short-term tagging and monitoring studies (e.g., Ormond 1970). However, it is also apparent that these methods are biased towards increased detection of starfish that move very little; there was an inherent tendency to concentrate searching in areas where starfish had previously been recorded, leading to increased

likelihood of detecting starfish that had not moved, whereas starfish that had moved even just a few metres perpendicular to the transect line may have moved outside of the search area and would be unlikely to be detected. Notably, 25 out of 258 (9.7%) that were tagged during initial establishment of transects were never recorded on any subsequent surveys. This may reflect the proportion of individuals that moved sufficient distances so as to be undetectable in subsequent surveys.

Previous studies (e.g., Keesing and Lucas 1992) show that movement patterns of crown-ofthorns starfish are strongly influenced by the local availability of coral prey, which makes sense given that the prime motivation for movement (at least outside of reproductive seasons) is to access food resources. Keesing and Lucas (1992) found that *A. cf. solaris* in areas with low densities of starfish and high cover (>30%) of prey corals moved only 1m per day, whereas conspecifics occupying reef habitats with low (<10%) coral cover moved >4 m per day. These differences in daily rates of movement are directly attributable to the availability of coral prey, such that starfish do not have to travel as far to access food in areas with high coral cover (Keesing and Lucas 1992). However, there were also differences in recorded rates of movement between reefs (e.g., Davies Reef versus Little Broadhurst Reef) in areas with comparable coral cover (Keesing and Lucas 1992), suggesting that daily movement rates are also influenced by reef structure and availability of shelter.



Figure 10: Box-plots showing differences in recorded movement for crown-of-thorns starfish (minimum displacement distances) relative to local cover across 10 transects at Rib Reef, central Great Barrier Reef.

Coral cover ranged from 16% to 74% among transects where we recorded diel movement patterns of *A*. cf. *solaris* at Rib Reef (Figure 10). Coral cover was generally higher on the reef crest (49.1%  $\pm$ 5.9 SE) than reef slope (35.0%  $\pm$ 5.0 SE), and particularly at Site B where there was very high coral cover (75%) recorded on the reef crest, with extensive cover of tabular *Acropora*. Tabular *Acropora* accounted for >50% of coral cover (and up to 84%) recorded on the reef crest at all sites, except Site E, where virtually all tabular *Acropora* had been recently killed (presumably by crown-of-thorns starfish). Despite marked differences in local coral cover, we found no consistent change in the minimum displacement distance recorded among transects relative to coral cover. This finding is counter to previous studies that show local coral cover has a strong influence on movement patterns of crown-of-thorns starfish (e.g., Keesing and Lucas 1992), though this might reflect the scale mismatch between our measure of coral cover (which is calculated at the scale of each 50m transects, with no specific accounting of changes in cover along each transect) versus fine-scale variability in prey availability for individual crown-of-thorns starfish.

#### 3.2.2 Detectability

Aside from assessing small-scale movement patterns of *A*. cf. *solaris*, this short-term tagging study provided important insights into the diel patterns of behaviour, such as exposure (Burn et al. 2020) and also enabled direct estimates of detectability. In all, we recorded 357 individuals across all surveys (3-5) on 12 transects at 5 different sites (A through E). During initial deployment of transects, we recorded just 266 (74.5%) out of 357 crown-of-thorns starfish ultimately recorded (across all surveys). Based on log-linear analysis of all capture-recapture data the estimated population across all transects was 365.6 starfish (95%CI: 359.5-372.3). Based on this population estimate, our overall detectability (across successive surveys) was 95.9-99.3% (Table 2). However, nocturnal surveys increased the number of starfish detected by an average of 21.05% across all transects. Based on the single initial surveys, which were conducted during daylight hours (generally in the morning), the average level of detectability for individuals  $\leq$ 250 mm diameter was 46.3%, compared to 82.4% and 85.6% for individuals 260-350mm dimeter and >350mm diameter, respectively. This likely reflects levels of detectability that would be achieved by control divers culling crown-of-thorns starfish within coral reef environments.

Differences in detectability were most apparent among different size classes of crown-ofthorns starfish (Table 2; Figure 11), as has been reported previously (MacNeil et al. 2016). MacNeil et al (2016) used very similar methods to those reported herein to assess the detectability of *A*. cf. *solaris* (n = 114 starfish) across 8 transects at two reefs (Undine Reef and Rudder Reef) in the northern GBR. MacNeil et al (2016) found that average detectability of crown-of-thorns starfish was 82%, but varied greatly depending on the size of the starfish and the time of day. In our study, overall detectability of small ( $\leq$ 250 mm diameter) starfish was much lower than that of starfish >250mm diameter, and there was no apparent difference in detectability between medium and large sized individuals (Figure 11). Moreover, the effect of time of day on detectability was much more pronounced for smaller ( $\leq$ 250 mm diameter) individuals (Table 2), presumably reflecting the increased tendency for smaller starfish to stay hidden during the day (Moran 1986). **Table 2:** Estimates of detectability based on log-linear analyses of mark-recapture data, whereby crown-of-thorns<br/>starfish were surveyed at least 3 time along each of 12 transects. Estimated population size (M0) is based on<br/>capture probabilities across all surveys. The original (*ui T1*) and subsequent (*ui T2*) number of starfish detected is<br/>shown to emphasise the contribution that nocturnal surveys made to overall detections. Population estimates are<br/>shown for different size classes of starfish, different habitats and each transect (where possible).

Treatment	Ν	МО	Detectability (%)	ui T1 (Day)	ui T2 (Night)	Nocturnal addition (%)
Overall	357	365.6	97.65%	266	56	21.05%
Small (≤250 mm)	108	116.6	92.62%	54	36	66.67%
Medium (260-350 mm)	171	173.6	98.50%	143	34	23.78%
Large (>350 mm)	135	136.7	98.76%	117	16	13.68%
Crest (3m)	168	172.6	97.33%	127	20	15.75%
Slope (6m)	189	193	97.93%	139	36	25.90%
Transect A-01	67	67.9	98.67%	49	18	36.73%
Transect A-02	27	27	100.00%	26	0	0.00%
Transect B-01	83	87.7	94.64%	70	4	5.71%
Transect B-02	83	83.9	98.93%	72	11	15.28%
Transect C-01	21	24.5	85.71%	10	6	60.00%
Transect C-02	6	6.1	98.36%	5	1	20.00%
Transect C-03	1	NA	NA	1	0	0.00%
Transect C-04	3	NA	NA	2	1	50.00%
Transect D-01	33	48.5	68.04%	11	4	36.36%
Transect D-02	17	18.1	93.92%	14	3	21.43%
Transect E-01	4	4.1	97.56%	3	1	33.33%
Transect E-02	12	12.5	96.00%	5	7	140.00%



**Figure 11:** Detectability of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) at Rib Reef, based on actual number of individuals recorded versus estimated population sizes for A) different size classes (as per Table 2), and B) different transects. Data is shown for only 10 (out of 12) transects, as population estimates for transects with very low numbers of starfish detected were considered erroneous. Standard error for detectability estimates was calculated based on variability in population estimates (Table 2).

### 3.3 Passive acoustic monitoring

Of the 12 A. cf. solaris that were initially tagged (with V7 69KHZ transmitters) at Lodestone Reef in March 2019 (transmitter numbers 39-50), only eight individuals were detected posttagging. There were a total 938 detections across all individuals over the total sample period (from March 5<sup>th</sup> to October 27<sup>th</sup>, 2019), though only 3 individuals were detected beyond the first 2-3 days after they were tagged. One starfish (transmitter number 39) was consistently, though infrequently, detected over 6 months (Figure 12). All 12 starfish were located, tagged, and returned to the area between receivers 4 and 5 and detections were limited to these receivers, and mainly receiver number 5. Given limited long-term (>1 week) detections at Lodestone Reef, a further 12 individuals were tagged (transmitter numbers 51-62) on June 27th 2019. At this time, the entire area between receivers 4 and 5 was intensively searched for previously tagged individuals, though none were found. Given the relatively narrow strip of reef along the northern edge of Lodestone Reef, it is unlikely (but not impossible) that previously tagged individuals moved perpendicular to the line of receivers. The reef edge was lined by sand on the deeper side and a shallow reef flat with virtually no corals on the shallow side. Each receiver is theoretically capable of receiving signals from any and all V7 69KHZ transmitters located within a 100m radius. However, the signal has to be emitted within line of sight, which is a significant limitation within complex reef habitats (Welsh et al. 2012), added to which, crown-of-thorns starfish are often very cryptic and shelter or even feed on the underside of corals. It is also possible that the signal would be limited if transmitters slid to the under (oral) side of the animal (which was subsequently prevented by changing the tagging protocols, see Section 2.3). Aside from limited detectability, it is possible that transmitters were lost from crown-of-thorn starfish, where transmitters may become snagged on the substrate and then tear out of the body of the starfish as they continue to move away. However, no injured starfish were located, despite careful search concentrated in the area between receivers 4 and 5.

Of the 12 additional *A*. cf. *solaris* that were tagged on June 27<sup>th</sup> 2019 (using the modified tagging method), 9 starfish were detected post-tagging, and there was a total of 2,537 detections across all individuals from June 27th to October 27<sup>th</sup>, 2019 (Figure 13). Differences in detection rates between the two tagging events within the same location may be attributable to changes in the tagging protocols; By feeding the fishing line back through the calcified ring (rather than around the nearest arm pit), there is no possibility of the transmitter moving to the oral side of the animal. Also, the risk of getting snagged is greatly reduced, given that there was only a very small length of fishing line exposed (on both the oral and aboral sides of the starfish). However, individual differences in the frequency and duration of detections were very apparent for both groups of crown-of-thorns starfish, and it is possible that this second group of starfish were more active, or generally more exposed.

Despite frequent and extended detections of crown-of-thorns starfish, all individuals were only ever detected by the receivers immediately adjacent (receivers 4 and/ or 5) to where the starfish were initially found and released (post-tagging). These results suggest that crown-of-thorns starfish move very little (<100m) even at temporal scales of weeks to months. This is consistent with previous suggestions (e.g., Ormond 1970) that crown-of-thorns starfish tend to restrict their movements within circumscribed areas of habitat for several weeks, as long as food remains sufficiently abundant. However, the limited long-term detections (other than for individuals with transmitter numbers 39 and 61) may suggest that tagged starfish have

effectively moved outside of the area encompassed by the array of receivers, potentially moving perpendicular to the reef, into deeper water or up over the reef crest. It is also possible that tagged starfish remained concealed within the reef matrix or outside of line of sight of the receivers, and may have ultimately died or lost their tags. While the current tagging method was developed and tested in captivity, where tag retention was 100% for 3 weeks (n = 6 starfish), it may be that tag retention is much lower in complex reef habitats compared to aquaria.



**Figure 12:** Detections of tagged Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) at Lodestone Reef, GBR between March 5<sup>th</sup> and June 27<sup>th</sup> 2019. Each circle represents detections for a given individual on a day and shading is proportional to the number of detections for that particular day. Data for individual 39 extends well beyond the range of days shown (see Figure 13).



**Figure 13:** Detections of Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) tagged on March 5<sup>th</sup> 2019 (39-50) and 12 additional individuals tagged on June 27<sup>th</sup> 2019 (51-62) at Lodestone Reef, GBR. Data downloaded from Receivers 4 and 5 between June 27<sup>th</sup> and October 27<sup>th</sup> 2019. Each circle represents detections for a given individual on a day and shading is proportional to the number of detections for that particular day. This data continues from Figure 12, and as such, all starfish tagged on March 5<sup>th</sup> are also shown.



**Figure 14:** Detections of tagged Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) at Big Broadhurst Reef, GBR between November 21<sup>st</sup> 2019 and January 29<sup>th</sup> 2020. Each circle represents detections for a given individual on a day and shading is proportional to the number of detections for that particular day

The overall number and rate of detections were higher at Big Broadhurst Reef, with 4321 detections over just 2 months, compared to 3475 detections over 8 months at Lodestone Reef. Coral cover recorded at Big Broadhurst Reef (44.05%  $\pm$ 5.00SE) was slightly higher than recorded at Lodestone Reef (36.61%  $\pm$ 4.81SE), but the overall structure of the habitat was much more amenable to passive acoustic tracking, which probably contributed to increased levels of detection. At Big Broadhurst Reef, 23 out of 26 tagged individuals were detected post-release, though 8 individuals were only detected the day they were released (Figure 14). For the remaining individuals (n=15), detections were highest in the last week of November and

first two weeks of December, potentially coinciding with the onset of the reproductive season (Figure 14). Only 3 individuals (64, 66, 73) were detected after this period and up until receivers were retrieved on January 29<sup>th</sup>, 2020. Notably, there were very few *A*. cf. *solaris* detected (and mostly smaller individuals) within the vicinity of the acoustic array at Big Broadhurst Reef in late January 2020, especially compared to the notable abundance and large size of starfish when this array was established in November 2019. This would suggest that larger starfish had died or moved (possibly into deeper water) through the summer period, which coincided with marked and sustained increases in water temperature over this period from 25.5°C at the start of November 2019 to 29.5°C in late January 2020 (AIMS 2020).

Declines in detections of tagged individuals, and apparent declines in the size and abundance of starfish, from November 2019 to January 2020 may suggest *A*. cf. *solaris* are vulnerable to elevated temperatures. The only study that has explored temperature sensitivity for adult crown-of-thorns starfish to date, measured changes in oxygen uptake of three relatively small (120mm diameter) individuals at experimental temperatures ranging from 25 - 33°C (Yamaguchi 1974). Yamaguchi (1974) showed that *A*. cf. *solaris* are adversely affected by temperatures  $\geq$ 31°C, while prolonged exposure to  $\geq$ 33°C is likely to be lethal (Yamaguchi 1974). It is possible that larger individuals will be even more sensitive to elevated temperatures, and especially in the weeks prior to spawning, when baseline metabolic rates are likely to be greatly increased. It is impossible to know whether declines in abundance and detectability of adult crown-of-thorns starfish from November through January at Big Broadhurst Reef relate to changes in behaviour, their distribution, or survivorship, but these results suggest that research into responses of adult *Acanthaster* spp. to increasing temperatures is warranted, especially given increasing incidence and severity of marine heatwaves.

Comparing across all tagged individuals (n= 50), the overall duration of detections averaged 4.78 days (±1.14 SE) and ranged from 0 to 44 days (Figure 15). This data suggests that crownof-thorns starfish are amenable to passive acoustic tracking, but far greater sampling will be required to detect occasional long-distant displacements using this method. Passive acoustic tracking might also be used to assess fine-scale movement (e.g., Schlaff et al. 2020), though this study was intentionally designed to test for larger scale (hundreds of metres) movements. However, crown-of-thorns starfish (even if remaining within the detection range of receivers) are only detectable infrequently, which probably coincides with periods that they are out in the open. The time of day at which starfish were detected was greatest between 0400-0700 hours, and lowest in late morning and early evening (Figure 16). If these diel patterns of detections reflect periods of greatest activity, it suggests that movement is greatest at night and escalates from 0000 to 0700 hours, with another period of heightened activity in late afternoon.



**Figure 15:** Total duration (in days) of detections for tagged Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) at Lodestone Reef and Big Broadhurst Reef. The lack of any bars indicates that these starfish (10 individuals) were never detected post tagging and release.



Figure 16: Total number of detections recorded at hourly intervals across all (n=50) Pacific crown-ofthorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) tagged (with V7 69KHZ transmitters) at Lodestone Reef and Big Broadhurst Reef in 2019

### 4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

Information on potential and realised movement by crown-of-thorns starfish is important for optimising spatial and temporal aspects of localised culling and removal activities (e.g., Bos et al. 2013, Fletcher et al. 2020), which is currently the most direct and viable method for managing population irruptions of *Acanthaster* spp. (Pratchett and Cumming 2019). On the GBR, extensive time and effort is invested in preventing coral loss at select locations (mostly high-value tourism locations) through direct culling (Westcott et al. 2016), by injecting individual starfish with bile salts solution (Rivera-Posada et al. 2014) or vinegar (Boström-Einarsson and Rivera-Posada 2016). To be effective and efficient, ecological control programs must be structured at spatial and temporal scales relevant to the scales at which individual organisms move through the landscape (Fletcher and Westcott 2013). Most notably, the rate at which individuals can move from uncontrolled to controlled portions of a reef and the scale of those movements will directly affect the efficacy with which the control program can protect sites of economic importance, and has important ramifications for necessary size of buffers required around areas to be protected, and the frequency revisitations to each site (Fletcher et al. 2015).

While crown-of-thorns starfish are clearly capable of moving across reef landscapes (Chesher 1969), the overwhelming result of this study (and previous studies) is that adult Acanthaster spp. generally move very little (Ormond 1970; Ormond and Campbell 1974), especially in habitats with reasonable (if not high) coral cover and thereby, ready access to coral prey within close proximity of sheltering locations. Moreover, we showed that crown-of-thorns starfish often exhibit high fidelity for specific sheltering locations (see also Ling et al. In review), returning to the same place to shelter between recurrent feeding bouts, as has been shown for urchins (Flukes et al. 2012; Ling et al. 2016). It is likely therefore, that crown-of-thorns starfish will move as required in response to changes in prey availability, though it remains unclear how far adult starfish can and will move to find viable sources of coral prey. Most critically, the question remains whether adult Acanthaster spp. move between reefs. If average rates of movement measured in captivity can be sustained, in combination with strong directionality, displacement distances of crown-of-thorns starfish could range from 150-520 m per day. However, it is unknown how long crown-of-thorns starfish can sustain these rates of movement and the maximum previously reported large-scale displacement of adult starfish is 1km/month (Table 1). Inter-reef movements probably occur only very rarely and contribute little to the overall spread of outbreaks, but are nonetheless very important in terms of structuring management and control actions that can reduce the impact of starfish at local scales (Westcott et al. 2016).

### 4.1 Future Research

This study has contributed greatly to understanding movement patterns for crown-of-thorns starfish, but has once again highlighted logistic constraints associated with effectively documenting individual plasticity in behaviour at larger temporal and spatial scales (Birkeland and Lucas 1990). While short term tagging and direct sampling provides a viable means to establish fine-scale patterns of movement and diel patterns of behaviour (Burn et al. 2020), at least for individuals that remain in the local area, there remains a considerable knowledge gap pertaining to periodic and large-scale movements of individuals and populations. Even using passive acoustic monitoring at Lodestone and Big Broadhurst reefs, we failed to detect any

large-scale movements of individually tagged crown-of-thorns starfish. The mean duration of detections for these starfish (4.78 days  $\pm$ 1.14 SE) was broadly comparable to the temporal extent of sampling achieved using temporary tagging and monitoring (section 2.2), and so it is probably not surprising that we failed to detect instances of large-scale movements. However, it is also unclear why the extent (especially temporal duration) of detections was so limited.

This study does show that crown-of-thorns starfish are amenable to passive acoustic tracking, which provides considerable opportunities to address foremost questions relating to the movement patterns and corresponding impacts of *Acanthaster* spp. in reef environments. Most importantly, this study should be repeated with acoustic receivers placed in a much more concentrated arrangement within the immediate vicinity of where starfish are initially tagged and released (e.g. Schlaff et al. 2020), with secondary receivers placed at increasing distance to detect occasional large-scale movements. The array needs to be maintained long enough to capture changes in behaviour following localised depletion of prey resources. Importantly, receivers should be placed both along and across the reef edge with the explicit aim of detecting starfish that move into deep water or up on to the reef crest. Passive detections on acoustic receivers should also be complemented by direct searches for tagged individuals using hand-held detectors, both to recover transmitters, but also establish the location and fate of tagged crown-of-thorns starfish.

### REFERENCES

- AIMS (2020) Davies Reef Weather Station Water Temperature @4m. Australian Institute of Marine Science http://data.aims.gov.au/aimsrtds/datatool.xhtml?channels=65
- Alvarez-Filip L, Dulvy NK, Gill JA, Co<sup>\*</sup>té IM, Watkinson AR (2009) Flattening of Caribbean coral reefs: region-wide declines in architectural complexity. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 276(1669):3019-25
- Aziz A, Sukarno (1977). Preliminary observation on living habits of *Acanthaster planci* (Linnaeus) at Pulau Tikus, Seribu Islands. Marine Research in Indonesia 17:121-132.
- Baird AH, Pratchett MS, Hoey AS, Herdiana Y, Campbell SJ (2013) *Acanthaster planci* is a major cause of coral mortality in Indonesia. Coral reefs 32(3):803-812
- Baillargeon S, Rivest LP (2007) Rcapture: Loglinear models for capture- recapture in R. Journal of Statistical Software 19(5):1-31
- Barham EG, Gowdy RW, Wolfson FH (1973) *Acanthaster* (Echinodermata, Asteroidea) in Gulfof-California. Fishery Bulletin 71(4):927-942
- Barnes JH (1966) The crown-of-thorns starfish as a destroyer of coral. Australian Natural History. 15:257-261
- Beer S, Wentzel C, Petie R, Garm A (2016) Active control of the visual field in the starfish *Acanthaster planci*. Vision Research 127:28-34
- Birkeland C, Lucas JS (1990) *Acanthaster planci*: Major Management Problem of Coral Reefs. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Bradbury RH, Van der Laan JD, MacDonald B (1990) Modelling the effects of predation and dispersal on the generation of waves of starfish outbreaks. Mathematical and Computer Modelling 13(6):61-67
- Branham JM, Reed SA, Bailey JH, Caperon J (1971) Coral-eating sea stars *Acanthaster planci* in Hawaii. Science 172(3988):1155-1157
- Bos AR, Gumanao GS, Mueller B, Saceda-Cardoza MME (2013) Management of crown-ofthorns sea star (*Acanthaster planci* L.) outbreaks: Removal success depends on reef topography and timing within the reproduction cycle. Ocean and Coastal Management 71:116-122
- Boström-Einarsson L, Rivera-Posada J (2016) Controlling outbreaks of the coral-eating crownof-thorns starfish using a single injection of common household vinegar. Coral Reefs. 35(1):223-228
- Burn D, Matthews S, Caballes CF, Chandler JF, Pratchett MS (2020) Biogeographical variation in diurnal behaviour of *Acanthaster planci* versus *Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*. PLoS One 15(2):e0228796
- Chesher RH (1969) Destruction of Pacific corals by the sea star *Acanthaster planci*. Science 65:280-283
- Clements CS, Hay ME (2017) Size matters: Predator outbreaks threaten foundation species in small Marine Protected Areas. PLoS One12(2):e0171569

- De'ath G, Moran PJ (1998) Factors affecting the behaviour of crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster planci* L.) on the Great Barrier Reef:: 2: Feeding preferences. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 220(1):107-126
- De'ath G, Fabricius KE, Sweatman H, Puotinen M (2012) The 27–year decline of coral cover on the Great Barrier Reef and its causes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109(44):17995-17999
- Fletcher CS, Westcott DA (2013) Dispersal and the design of effective management strategies for plant invasions: matching scales for success. Ecological Applications 23: 1881-1892
- Fletcher CS, Westcott DA, Murphy HT, Grice AC, Clarkson JR (2015) Managing breaches of containment and eradication of invasive plant populations. Journal of Applied Ecology 52: 59-68
- Fletcher CS, Bonin MC, Westcott DA (2020) An ecologically-based operational strategy for COTS Control: Integrated decision making from the site to the regional scale. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns 65pp
- Flukes E, Johnson CR, Ling SD (2012) Forming sea urchin barrens from the inside-out: an alternative model of overgrazing. Marine Ecology Progress Series 464:179-194
- Glynn PW (1977) Interactions between *Acanthaster* and *Hymenocera* in the field and laboratory. Proceedings of the 3<sup>rd</sup> International Coral reef Symposium 1:209-215
- Heupel MR, Simpfendorfer CA, Heuter RE (2004) Estimation of shark home ranges using passive monitoring techniques. Environmental Biology Fishes 71:135–142
- Hock K, Wolff NH, Condie SA, Anthony KRN, Mumby PJ (2014) Connectivity networks reveal the risks of crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks on the Great Barrier Reef. J Appl Ecol 51:1188–1196
- Johnson CR, Sutton DC, Olson RR, Giddins R (1991) Settlement of crown-of-thorns starfish: role of bacteria on surfaces of coralline algae and a hypothesis for deepwater recruitment. Marine Ecology Progress Series 11:143-162
- Kayal M, Vercelloni J, Lison de Loma T, Bosserelle P, Chancerelle Y, Geoffroy S, Stievenart C, Michonneau F, Penin L, Planes S, Adjeroud M (2012) Predator crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster planci*) outbreak, mass mortality of corals, and cascading effects on reef fish and benthic communities. PLoS One 7:e47363
- Keesing JK, Lucas JS (1992) Field measurement of feeding and movement rates of the crownof thorns starfish *Acanthasther planci* (L.). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 156:89–104
- Kenchington RA (1977) Growth and recruitment of *Acanthaster planci* (L.) on the Great Barrier Reef. Biological Conservation 11(2):103-118
- Lane DJ (2012) *Acanthaster planci* impact on coral communities at permanent transect sites on Bruneian reefs, with a regional overview and a critique on outbreak causes. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 92(4):803-809
- Ling SD, Mahon I, Marzloff MP, Pizarro O, Johnson CR, Williams SB (2016) Stereo-imaging AUV detects trends in sea urchin abundance on deep overgrazed reefs. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 14:293-304

- Ling SD, Cowan Z, Boada J, Flukes EB, Pratchett MS (In review) Facultative homing by crownof-thorns starfish depends on availability of preferred coral prey. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences
- MacNeil MA, Mellin C, Pratchett MS, Hoey J, Anthony KRN, Cheal AJ, Miller I, Sweatman H, Cowan ZL, Taylor S, Moon S, Fonnesbeck CJ. (2016) Joint estimation of crown of thorns (*Acanthaster planci*) densities on the Great Barrier Reef. PeerJ 4:e2310
- McCurley RS, Kier W (1995) The functional morphology of starfish tube feet: The role of a crossed-fiber helical array in movement. Biological Bulletin 188:197-209
- McWilliam M, Pratchett MS, Hoogenboom MO, Hughes TP (2020) Deficits in functional trait diversity following recovery on coral reefs. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 287(1918):20192628
- Miller I, Sweatman H, Cheal A, Emslie M, Johns K, Jonker M, Osborne K (2015) Origins and implications of a primary crown-of-thorns starfish outbreak in the southern Great Barrier Reef. Journal of Marine Biology. 2015:809624
- Miyoshi K, Kuwahara Y, Miyashita K (2018) Tracking the Northern Pacific sea star *Asterias amurensis* with acoustic transmitters in the scallop mariculture field of Hokkaido, Japan. Fisheries Science 84:349-355
- Mellin C, Matthews S, Anthony KR, Brown SC, Caley MJ, Johns KA, Osborne K, Puotinen M, Thompson A, Wolff NH, Fordham DA (2019) Spatial resilience of the Great Barrier Reef under cumulative disturbance impacts. Global Change Biology 25(7):2431-2445
- Montgomery EM, Palmer AR (2012) Effects of body size and shape on locomotion in the bat star (*Patiria miniata*). Biological Bulletin 222:222-232
- Moran PJ (1986) The *Acanthaster* phenomenon. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 24:379-480
- Moran PJ, De'Ath G, Baker VJ, Bass DK, Christie CA, Miller IR, Miller-Smith BA, Thompson AA (1992) Pattern of outbreaks of crown-of-thorns starfish (Acanthaster planci L.) along the Great Barrier Reef since 1966. Marine and Freshwater Research 43(3):555-567
- Mueller B, Bos AR, Graf G, Gumanao GS (2011) Size-specific locomotion rate and movement pattern of four common Indo-Pacific sea stars (Echinodermata; Asteroidea). Aquat Biol 12:157–164
- Nakamura M, Okaji K, Higa Y, Yamakawa E, Mitarai S (2014) Spatial and temporal population dynamics of the crown-of-thorns starfish, *Acanthaster planci*, over a 24-year period along the central west coast of Okinawa Island, Japan. Marine Biology 161(11):2521-2530
- Ormond RFG (1970) Marking studies of *Acanthaster planci*. pp 53-58 In: Roads CH, Ormond RFG (eds) New Studies on the Crown of Thorns Starfish (*Acanthaster planci*) from Investigation in the Red Sea. Report of the 3<sup>rd</sup> Cambridge Red Sea Expedition.
- Ormond RF, Campbell AC (1974) Formation and breakdown of *Acanthaster planci* aggregations in the Red Sea. Proceedings of the 2nd International Coral Reef Symposium 1: 595-619
- Pearson RG, Endean R (1969) A preliminary study of the coral predator Acanthaster planci (L.) (Asteroidea) on the Great Barrier Reef. Fisheries Notes, Queensland Dept of Harbours and Marine 3:27–55

- Petie R, Hall MR, Hyldahl M, Garm A (2016) Visual orientation by the crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster planci*). Coral Reefs 35(4):1139-1150
- Pisapia C, Burn D, Pratchett MS (2019) Changes in the population and community structure of corals during recent disturbances (February 2016-October 2017) on Maldivian coral reefs. Scientific Reports 9(1):8402
- Pratchett MA, Cumming GS (2019) Managing cross-scale dynamics in marine conservation: Pest irruptions and lessons from culling of crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* spp.). Biological Conservation 23:108211
- Pratchett MS, Schenk TJ, Baine M, Syms C, Baird AH (2009) Selective coral mortality attributable to an outbreak of *Acanthaster planci* L. in Bootless Bay, Central Province, Papua New Guinea. Marine Environmental Research 67:230-236
- Pratchett MS, Hoey AS, Wilson SK, Messmer V, Graham NAJ (2011) Changes in the biodiversity and functioning of reef fish assemblages following coral bleaching and coral loss. Diversity 3:424-452
- Pratchett MS, Caballes CF, Rivera-Posada JA, Sweatman HPA (2014) Limits to understanding and managing outbreaks of crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* spp.). Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 52:133–200
- Pratchett MS, Cowan Z, Nadler LE, Caballes CF, Hoey AS, Messmer V, Fletcher CS, Westcott DA, Ling SD (2017) Body size and substrate type modulate movement by the western Pacific crown-of-thorns starfish, *Acanthaster solaris*. PLoS ONE 2(9):e0180805
- Pratchett MS, Lang BJ, Matthews S (2019) Culling crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*) on Australia's Great Barrier Reef: rationale and effectiveness. Australian Zoologist 40(1), 13-24.
- Pratchett MS, McWilliam MJ, Riegl B (2020) Contrasting shifts in coral assemblages with increasing disturbances. Coral Reefs 39:783-793
- Rivera-Posada JA, Pratchett MS, Aguilar C, Grand A, Caballes CF (2014) Bile salts and the single-shot lethal injection method for killing crown-of-thorns sea stars (*Acanthaster planci*). Ocean and Coastal Management 102:383-390
- Reichelt RE, Bradbury RH, Moran PJ (1990) Distribution of *Acanthaster planci* outbreaks on the Great Barrier Reef between 1966 and 1989. Coral Reefs 9(3):97-103
- Roche RC, Pratchett MS, Carr P, Turner JR, Wagner D, Head C, Sheppard CR (2015) Localized outbreaks of *Acanthaster planci* at an isolated and unpopulated reef atoll in the Chagos Archipelago. Marine Biology 162(8):1695-1704
- Rogers JG, Pláganyi ÉE, Babcock RC (2017) Aggregation, Allee effects and critical thresholds for the management of the crown-of-thorns starfish *Acanthaster planci*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 578:99-114
- Rosenberg DL (1972) Behavioral orientation of *Acanthaster planci*. Technical Report 3. University of Guam Marine Laboratory, Guam. 12pp
- Santos R, Gorb S, Jamar V, Flammang P (2005) Adhesion of echinoderm tube feet to rough surfaces Journal of Experimental Biology 208:2555-2567
- Saponari L, Montalbetti E, Galli P, Strona G, Seveso D, Dehnert I, Montano S (2018) Monitoring and assessing a 2-year outbreak of the corallivorous seastar *Acanthaster*

*planci* in Ari Atoll, Republic of Maldives. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 190(6):344

- Schlaff A, Menéndez P, Hall M, Heupel M, Armstrong T, Motti C (2020) Acoustic tracking of a large predatory marine gastropod, *Charonia tritonis*, on the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Ecology Progress Series 642:147-161
- Scott ME, Heupel MR, Simpfendorfer CA, Matley JK, Pratchett MS (2019) Latitudinal and seasonal variation in space use by a large, predatory reef fish, *Plectropomus leopardus*. Functional Ecology 33(4):670-680
- Sigl R, Laforsch C (2016) The influence of water currents on movement patterns on sand in the crown-of-thorns seastar (*Acanthaster* cf. *solaris*). Diversity 8:25
- Sigl R, Steibl S, Laforsch C (2016) The role of vision for navigation in the crown-of-thorns seastar, *Acanthaster planci*. Scientific Reports 6:30834
- Simpfendorfer CA, Yeiser BG, Wiley TR, Poulakis GR, Stevens PW, Heupel MR (2011) Environmental influences on the spatial ecology of juvenile smalltooth sawfish (*Pristis pectinata*): results from acoustic monitoring. PLoS ONE 6:e16918
- Sweatman H, Bass DK, Cheal AJ, Coleman G, Miller IR, Ninio R, Osborne K, Oxley WG, Ryan DAJ, Thompson AA, Tomkins P (1998) Long-term Monitoring of the Great Barrier Reef. Status Report Number 3. Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville
- Talbot FH, Talbot MS (1971) Crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster*) and Great Barrier Reef. Endeavour 30(109):38
- Thompson GB, Thompson C (1982) Movement and size structure in a population of the blue starfish *Linckia laevigata* (L) at Lizard Island, Great Barrier Reef. Marine and Freshwater Research 33(3):561-573
- Trapon ML, Pratchett MS, Penin L (2011) Comparative effects of different disturbances in coral reef habitats in Moorea, French Polynesia. Journal of Marine Biology 2011:807625
- Udyawer V, Simpfendorfer CA, Read M, Hamann M, Heupel MR (2016) Exploring habitat selection in sea snakes using passive acoustic monitoring and Bayesian hierarchical models. Marine Ecology Progress Series 546:249-262
- Vanhatalo J, Hosack GR, Sweatman H (2017) Spatiotemporal modelling of crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks on the Great Barrier Reef to inform control strategies. Journal of Applied Ecology 54(1):188-197
- Welsh JQ, Fox RJ, Webber DM, Bellwood DR (2012) Performance of remote acoustic receivers within a coral reef habitat: implications for array design. Coral Reefs 31(3):693-702.
- Westcott DA, Fletcher CS, Babcock R, Plaganyi-Lloyd E (2016) A Strategy to Link Research and Management of Crown-of-Thorns Starfish on the Great Barrier Reef: An Integrated Pest Management Approach, Report to the National Environmental Science Programme, Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns, Australia 77pp
- Wilmes JC, Schultz DJ, Hoey AS, Messmer V, Pratchett MS (2020) Habitat associations of settlement-stage crown-of-thorns starfish on Australia's Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs doi: 10.1007/s00338-020-01950-6

- Wilson SK, Robinson JP, Chong-Seng K, Robinson J, Graham NA (2019) Boom and bust of keystone structure on coral reefs. Coral Reefs 38(4):625-635
- Wooldridge SA, Brodie JE (2015) Environmental triggers for primary outbreaks of crown-ofthorns starfish on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 101(2):805-815
- Yamaguchi M (1973) Early life histories of coral reef asteroids, with special reference to Acanthaster planci (L.). pp 369–387 In: Jones OA, Endean R (eds) Biology and Geology of Coral Reefs. Academic Press, New York
- Yamaguchi M (1974) Effect of elevated temperature on the metabolic activity of the coral reef asteroid Acanthaster planci (L.). Pacific Science 28(2):139-146
- Zann L, Brodie J, Vuki V (1990) History and dynamics of the crown-of-thorns starfish *Acanthaster planci* (L.) in the Suva area, Fiji. Coral Reefs 9:135-144





# www.nesptropical.edu.au